No.44674-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES BERNARDE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Stephanie A. Arend, Judge

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK WSBA No. 23879 Counsel for Appellant

RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE Post Office Box 31017 Seattle, Washington 98103 (206) 782-3353

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Where a defendant has successfully completed sex-offender

is it an abuse of discretion for the trial court to later revoke a Special Sex

Offender Sentencing Alternative (SSOSA) based on termination from subsequent treatment?

2. Did the trial court err in failing to set forth a specific term of post-sentence community custody, instead improperly delegating the task of setting that term to DOC?

3. All conditions of community custody or supervision imposed in a judgment and sentence must be statutorily authorized. Did the sentencing court exceed its statutory authority in limiting the providers from whom the defendant may receive a prescription to far fewer than the Legislature authorized?

4. Did the sentencing court violate Bernarde's due process rights and err in imposing a condition prohibiting him from possessing or perusing "pornographic" materials without defining that term, instead delegating to the community corrections officer to decide when the defendant is in violation?

Did the court further violate Bernarde's First Amendment rights by prohibiting him from constitutionally-protected activity without limiting that prohibition so that it was narrowly tailored?

5. Were Bernarde's rights to be free from unreasonable governmental intrusion into his private affairs violated when he was ordered to submit to plethysmograph testing when directed to by his community corrections officer or therapist when that condition was not sufficiently limited to legitimate treatment purposes?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. <u>Procedural Facts</u>

In 2003, appellant James L. Bernarde was charged by amended information with and pled guilty to seven counts of second-degree child molestation. CP 5-8; RCW 9A.44.086. The Honorable Judge Stephanie Arend imposed a SSOSA and, after hearings before her and the Honorable Commissioner Megan Foley (as indicated) on July 13, August 10 and October 26, 2007, January 11, April 25, May 23 and October 24, 2008, April 10 and July 10, 2009, February 12, 2010, February 11 and August 12, 2011, July 27, August 1 (Foley), August 3, September 28, October 24 (Foley), and November 9, 2012, February 22 and March 22, 25 and 27, 2013, the court revoked the SSOSA and imposed sentence. CP 342-44.¹ Bernarde appealed and this pleading follows. See CP 345.

¹The verbatim report of proceedings in this case consists of multiple, nonchronologically paginated volumes, which will be referred to as follows:

July 13, 2007, as "1RP;" August 10, 2007, as "2RP;" October 27, 2007, as "3RP;" January 11, 2008, as "4RP;" April 25, 2008, as "5RP;" May 23, 2008, as "6RP;" October 24, 2008, as "7RP;" April 10, 2009, as "8RP;" July 10, 2009, as "9RP;" February 12, 2010, as "10RP;" February 11, 2011, as "11RP;" August 12, 2011, as "12RP;" July 27, 2012, as "13RP;" August 1, 2012, as "14RP;" August 3, 2012, as "15RP;" September 28, 2012, as "16RP;" October 24, 2012, as "17RP;" November 9, 2012, as "18RP;" February 22, 2013, as "19RP;" March 22, 25, and 27, 2013, as "20RP."

2. <u>Facts admitted as part of plea</u>

Bernarde was accused of seven counts of second-degree child molestation for sexual contact with two early-teen daughters. CP 5-8. In his Statement on Plea of Guilty, Mr. Bernarde declared:

During the period January 2002 to May 2003, I had sexual contact w/A.B. + K.B. who were between the ages of 12-14, not married to me and where I was 36 months older than them. This contact took place in WA State.

CP 36-37.

3. Facts relevant to SSOSA

In exchange for Bernarde's pleas, the prosecution recommended and the trial court imposed a SSOSA. CP 9-13. The sentence imposed but suspended was for 116 months for each count, to run concurrent. CP 40-54. The SSOSA started with 180 days of "total confinement" with credit for 30 days served, followed by 4 years of community custody. CP 47. Bernard was ordered to "[u]ndergo and successfully complete" an outpatient sex offender treatment program for "3 years or successful completion." CP 47-48.

With a few fits and starts, Bernarde made progress and, on July 10, 2009, his treatment provider sent a glowing report, declaring that he had made such "significant progress" that the provider was "releasing" Bernarde "as a successful graduate" of the sex-offender therapy program. CP 171-74. That same day, the parties appeared and discussed the fact that Bernarde was "in compliance" and that the treatment provider wanted to release him. 9RP 3-8.

Judge Arend expressed some concern that there had been a report

the previous year indicating that Bernarde was having trouble with accepting responsibility. 9RP 4. The judge declared, however, "we'll terminate treatment today." 9RP 4. A review hearing was set for February 12, 2010. 9RP 5. The written order filed in the court file had originally been titled "ORDER CONTINUING SSOSA TREATMENT," but "CONTINUING" was lined out and the word "TERMINATING" inserted. CP 169-70. The Order also provided, in relevant part, "[t]he Court finds that the defendant has yet to fully comply [sic] with and successfully complete all of the requirements and conditions of the treatment program ordered in the above-entitled cause." CP 169-70. But the boilerplate language in the order was not changed and still provided, "[t]he requirement of treatment in this cause is continued." CP 169-70.

When the parties next appeared in 2010, they discussed the inconsistencies in the order and concluded that the court had terminated treatment and they had used the wrong form. 10RP 2-7. Mr. Bernarde recalled that the hearing was supposed to be the last review but because Judge Arend thought the prior order was inconsistent and she did not have a "specific independent recollection" that she had terminated treatment, the judge said, she was going to "err on the side of caution for the protection of the public and set another review hearing." 10RP 8.

An order "re SSOSA Sentence" entered the same date, signed by Judge Arend, specifically provided, "[d]efendant has completed his SSOSA-required treatment" and "aftercare treatment is recommended but not required." CP 280.

In February 11, 2011, Bernarde was still in compliance with his

supervision requirements. 11RP 2-3. The same was true on August 12, 2011, when Bernarde's CCO said Bernarde was "doing what he's supposed to do" and that, in fact, the CCO was "proud" of Bernarde. 13RP 2-3. Another review hearing was set out for another year because supervision was for two more years. 13RP 3-4. The court entered an "ORDER CONTINUING SSOSA," lining out the word "TREATMENT" in the title and writing on the form that he had completed "tmt 2010." CP 191-92. Still in the boilerplate language was a declaration that "the defendant has yet to fully comply with and successfully complete all of the requirements and conditions of the treatment program ordered in the above-entitled cause." CP 191-92.

The following May, however, Bernarde had a new CCO and she filed a "violation" report. CP 195-204. The issues were things that the new CCO had concerns about, which Bernarde said the previous CCO had allowed, such as unscheduled out-of-county travel for work. CP 195-204. While recognizing that Bernarde had been managed by several CCO's over the years, the new CCO gave him a verbal "reprimand" and reminded him of the conditions imposed. CP 195-204. The CCO also said that she had learned from Bernarde that he had unexpected contact with a ten-year old child at church when the child had unexpectedly approached and shaken Bernarde's hand. CP 200. As a result, the CCO said, she had "directed" him to contact the sex offender providers and "resume Sex Offender Treatment." CP 202.

On July 19, 2012, the prosecutor filed a Petition alleging that Bernarde had the improper contact on May 3, 2012 (potentially the church

incident), and had also had a "failure/alteration" on a polygraph on July 17, 2012. CP 209-12. Counsel noted at the hearing on the issue that it was not that there was "deception" in the polygraph but that there was "breath holding" and that Bernarde has issues with anxiety. 13RP 3-4. She also pointed out that Bernarde was having to make some "adjustments" from a CCO who was very flexible to what the new CCO wanted. 13RP 3-4. A CCO filling in for Bernarde's absent CCO said she wanted him "back into treatment." 13RP 8. She recognized he "did complete treatment per the original sentencing conditions" but thought he appeared to have "regressed." 13RP 8.

The court asked counsel if she had "any problem" with the new treatment recommendation and she responded, "[n]o," saying she had read that recommendation from the CCO in the report and talked to Bernarde about it. 13RP 8. The court said, "[t]hat's appropriate." 13RP 8-9.

On August 1, the prosecution filed a Petition to revoke the SSOSA, saying that Bernarde had "failed to obey all laws" by driving a car without having insurance on about July 31, 2012. CP 213-14. The prosecutor then scheduled a hearing before the Honorable Commissioner Megan Foley, where Bernarde acknowledged the offense. 14RP 7-8. The Commissioner also speculated that Bernarde probably did not have a valid license because of his record, although Bernarde objected to such "fact-finding" by the court. 14RP 8-9. At a hearing before Judge Arend a few days later, the court imposed a 30-day period in custody and indicated that "other violations" would be addressed in the future. CP 217-18; 15RP 9. At that hearing, counsel also told Bernarde he had to be "[b]ack in treatment

according to DOC." 15RP 13. An "order modifying sentence" was entered reflecting that sanction. CP 217-18.

About a month later, another "violation report" was filed referring to the unexpected contact with a 10-year-old shaking Bernarde's hand on May 3, 2012. CP 221-37. The only "violation" listed, however, was an allegation that he drove without a valid license the same day he drove without insurance, about July 31, 2012. CP 224. On September 28, 2012, the parties appeared before Judge Arend and an amended order was entered in order to ensure that Bernarde have only "incidental contact" with minors under 16 at his work or church with CCO permission. 16RP 5. Counsel explained the circumstances of the church contact where the 10-year old boy had shaken Bernarde's hand unexpectedly. 16RP 5. Although it was "incidental contact" that had always been allowed, counsel acknowledged Bernarde that had not reported it to his new CCO at the time. 16RP 5. Bernarde himself, however, said he had reported it the next day. 16RP 5-6.

Bernarde really wanted to go back to church but had been told he could not unless he spoke to the pastor and told about his crimes or had a "safety plan." 16RP 6. The CCO said she wanted approval of the chaperone for church, noting that Mrs. Bernarde had some issues with her age and mental health and thus she could not serve in that capacity herself. 16RP 6-7. The "safety plan" was being worked out with Bernarde's treatment provider but the prosecutor declared there was an "email" asking for an order for Bernarde to "continue with treatment until successfully discharged by his treatment provider" because there was a claim that he

was having "some difficulties as a former graduate from SO treatment." 16RP 7. The CCO also said, "Department of Corrections would like him to continue with treatment." 16RP 8-9.

Counsel took no position on that request but noted that Bernarde has worked very hard and had needed to pay the treatment provider in order to get a report from her. 16RP 9-10. The court concluded that the "bottom line" was that "there's a request that he be required to continue in treatment" and "at this point that seems appropriate," so the court granted the request. 16RP 10-11. An order was entered "modifying" the "safety plan for church" which included "[t]he defendant shall continue with treatment." CP 238.

About a month later, in October of 2012, the prosecution filed a petition asking for the SSOSA to be revoked because "[d]efendant had contact with minors." CP 244. A subsequent report issued by the treatment provider said it appeared that, over the 14 group therapy sessions Bernarde had done recently, he had "regressed," that he had not done his "safety plan" or another assignment. CP 247-49. The treatment provider stated that two weeks after the September 28 hearing, Bernarde had reported on a polygraph that he had incidental contact at a worksite, so he was then taken into custody. <u>Id</u>. She concluded that he needed "on-going therapeutic attention" and polygraphs but was recommending another treatment provider because she did not have time for him in her own schedule. CP 248-49.

On November 9, 2012, counsel told the court that she thought the contact was only "incidental." 18RP 11-12. She told the court that

Bernarde had been losing jobs as an electrician because he could not longer travel outside the county without permission as in the past. 18RP 12-13. There was also a lot of frustration for him because of the changes he was having to adjust to with the new CCO. 18RP 19-20.

Bernarde himself said he had not had any contact with kids. 18RP 24-25. He thought that there was a misunderstanding about what he had said when he was trying to figure out how to deal with the new rules. 18RP 24-25. He said for "nine years this is what was acceptable" but it had all changed. 18RP 25-26. He also felt he had done nothing wrong. 18RP 25-26.

The judge expressed concern that there had been some troubles years ago. 18RP 30-31. She imposed 45 days in custody, set a review hearing, required Bernarde to get a new treatment provider and said she would "insist upon exact and complete compliance with the CCO." 18RP 30-31. After learning about Bernarde's problems with money and the difficulty he had getting paying work, the court changed the sanction to 30 days. 18RP 33-34.

On February 6, 2013, a violation report was filed, indicating that Bernarde had "failed to obey all laws by striking" his wife and injuring her abdomen "on or about 1/30/13" and by failing to tell DOC of a change of address "within 24 hours of moving on 1/31/13[.]" CP 243-46. An amended petition filed a few days later added that Bernarde had also failed to report to DOC within 24 hours of release, had failed to obey all laws by violating an active no-contact order regarding his wife, and had been "terminated from court[-]ordered sex offender treatment. . .on 2/17/13."

CP 279.

At a hearing on February 22, the prosecutor noted that the assault charge was set for trial in Tacoma Municipal court in March. 19RP 3. Counsel noted that the rules kept changing on Bernarde and he was really trying to comply but that it was worthwhile to note that Bernarde's mistakes were minor, not involving inappropriate contact with minors. 19RP 10-11. The court said that some things, like reporting a change of address, were "kind of basic." 19RP 12-13. Judge Arend also said she appreciated, however, that Bernarde was working. 19RP 12-13.

On March 18, 2013, the prosecution filed a Petition to have the SSOSA revoked on the grounds that Bernarde "had contact with minors" with no date specified. CP 304-307. A few days later, a "supplemental" was filed by the CCO, which said Bernarde had unauthorized/unreported contact with minors on March 1, 2013, and "since on or about March 2nd, 2013." CP 305. Bernarde had gotten approval for the hotels he was staying at but had failed a polygraph about having unreported contact with their family in the motel lobby when he was checking in. CP 305-306. He also said that he had talked to some women at their home about a job and their kids came home, walked by him on the porch and entered the house. CP 306-307. He said he had left about 5-10 minutes later. Id.

An amended petition was filed on about March 18, alleging "unreported and unauthorized contact with minors" between March 1-15, 2013. CP 325-29.

A hearing on the allegations was held before Judge Arend on

March 22, 25 and 27, 2013. At the hearing, counsel noted that Bernarde had stipulated to three of the violations: failing to report within 24 hours, violating the no-contact order with his wife and being terminated from treatment as a result of his arrest. 20RP 4-6.

Two officers testified about going to a "domestic" dispute call involving Bernarde and his wife on January 30, 2013. 20RP 14-36. One officer said that, when they arrived, Mrs. Bernarde was "gasping for air," upset, and reported having an argument about a table. 20RP 26. The officer said Mrs. Bernarde told him Bernarde had grabbed one end of the table and shoved it into her stomach. 20RP 27.

Mrs. Bernarde, however, testified that she felt Bernarde "gets all the blame for it and it's not only him" that was involved. 20RP 37-38. She said they were playing and the table hit her but her son must have misunderstood when he thought she said Bernarde had hit her with the table. 30RP 38-39. According to Mrs. Bernarde, they were talking about having the table put into the garage and he said when he had rested he would do it, after which they sort of shoved it at eachother and, she said, "[o]ne of those times when I pushed, it came back and it hit me." 30RP 39-30. She said it was "the plain truth" that Bernarde had not pushed the table but the legs sort of just folded and the table fell into her. 30RP 38-47.

Mrs. Bernarde's adult son said he had called police when he heard a commotion and opened the door to the bedroom to see his mom bending over, holding her "tummy" and saying, "[h]e hit me, he hit me." 20RP 54-55. When he called police, he told them "[h]e's beating my mother with a table; she's pretty hurt." 20RP 62-64.

The prosecutor conceded that the criminal charges in Tacoma Municipal Court regarding the alleged assault were dismissed, saying it was "due to issues with Ms. Bernarde's version of events." 20RP 7-8.

Bernarde's CCO, Sally Saxon, testified that she had taken over supervision in August of 2012 and believed that Bernarde had been released after his arrest on a Thursday in the evening but had not reported by Friday at five. RP 67-70. She said he did not leave a phone call or message over the weekend but had registered with the sheriff's office that following Monday and only came in to report to Saxon when she told him to. 20RP 68-71.

Saxon first admitted that incidental contact like that at the motel or on the porch was not a problem itself but the problem was Bernarde "failed to report it." 20RP 64-65. A little later, however, she decided the motel contact was, in fact, a problem and Bernarde should have taken some "action to minimize" the contact in the lobby, which had occurred when he was checking in and a family had come in to do the same. 20RP 120-21.

The CCO also opined that Bernarde had "regressed to pretreatment behavior." 20RP 77-78. She also conceded that Bernarde was having to get used to new rules and that those rules had changed the behavior that had been permitted for years so Bernarde could work. 20RP 81-82, 116-17.

Saxon agreed that Bernarde was still a "Level 1, low risk" to reoffend. 20RP 82. She also admitted that he had called and left voice

messages when he moved hotels from Friday to Saturday. 20RP 88.

Saxon ultimately conceded that the contact in the motel lobby was "incidental" but that she did not think it was incidental contact when the kids came home from school and walked past Bernarde on the porch. 20RP 88, 103-104. She also said, "[w]hether it's incidental or not, he was given direct orders not to be in proximity or at any location where a minor resided." 20RP 88-89. According to the CCO, because children lived at the home, as soon as they showed up, Bernarde "should have excused himself and left the property" even though the kids went inside. 20RP 103-04. She thought being out on the porch while the kids were in the home was "[s]till proximity." 20RP 107-108.

The CCO conceded, however, that Bernarde had disclosed the contacts to the polygraph officer and that officer had specifically described the disclosures as admissions of "incidental contact with minors" and that incidental contact did not need to be reported. 20RP 105-106. She nevertheless maintained that Bernarde should have done something different with these contacts. 20RP 102-104.

Bernarde testified that he was dropped by the treatment provider when he was arrested for the assault of his wife - an assault he denied. 20RP 132-33. On the day in question, he said, his wife was very upset about not being allowed by some family members to see another. 20RP 134-35. She was taking things off a table he was using when he sort of pulled it back and she pulled it towards herself. 20RP 134-35. He said he did not have a good grip on it and it went towards her. 20RP 134-35.

Regarding the "porch" incident, Bernarde explained that he had

arranged to be at the house when the kids were in school so that there would be no kids there. 20RP 147-48. When the kids came by, he and his friend who had worked the job were in the front yard, about 10 feet away, not actually on the porch. 20RP 147-48. Bernarde explained that he did not think to tell anyone about the incidents because the kids were so far away and they went inside the house right away. 20RP 148-49.

In ruling, Judge Arend said the testimony from Bernarde that the table was pulled out of his hands was "completely incredible" to the court because of the relative sizes of the people involved. 20RP 182-84. The judge was convinced that the prosecutor had proven the assault and told Bernarde that, "[t]his far into the game, it should be clear as a bell what you should do for the protection of the community." 20RP 184-85. She was also concerned that Bernarde was not "erring on the side of caution" which he should be doing this close to the end of supervision and after she had given Bernarde a "second chance" the previous year. 20RP 184-85. Judge Arend then found "all six violations to have occurred" and that "revocation is the only appropriate remedy." 20RP 184-85.

In the "Order Revoking Sentence" the court found three violations based on stipulation: 1) failure to report a change of address to DOC within 24 hours of "his move" on January 31, 2013, 2) failing to "obey all laws" by contacting his wife on February 3, 2013, and 3) that he had been "terminated from court ordered sex offender treatment on February 17, 2013. CP 342-44. The court also concluded that, based on the testimony, Bernarde had "failed to obey all laws" by assaulting his wife on January 30, 2103, had failed to report to DOC within 24 hours after his release

from custody on January 31, 2013, and had "unreported and unauthorized contact with minors" between March 1 and 15, 2013. CP 342-44.

D. ARGUMENT

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