COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JAMES LYNN BERNARDE, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Stephanie A. Arend

No. 03-1-02212-0

Brief of Respondent

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By KIMBERLEY DEMARCO Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 39218

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS
DISCRETION IN REVOKING DEFENDANT'S SSOSA
AFTER DEFENDANT STIPULATED TO THREE
VIOLATIONS AND THE COURT FOUND THREE
ADDITIONAL VIOLATIONS BY A PREPONDERANCE
OF THE EVIDENCE.

A superior court may revoke an offender's SSOSA suspended sentence at any time if it is reasonably satisfied that the offender violated a condition of his suspended sentence or failed to make satisfactory progress in treatment. RCW 9.94A.670(11); *State v. Dahl*, 139 Wn.2d 678, 683, 990 P.2d 396 (1999). Because a revocation of a suspended sentence is not a criminal proceeding, the due process rights afforded at a revocation hearing are not the same as those afforded at trial. *Dahl*, 139 Wn.2d at 683. Such minimal due process rights entail: (a) written notice of the claimed violations; (b) disclosure to the parolee of the evidence against him; (c) the opportunity to be heard; (d) the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses; (e) a neutral and detached hearing body; and (f) a statement by the court as to the evidence relied upon and the reasons for the revocation. *Id*. Revocation of a suspended sentence due to violations rests within the discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed

- 12 - Bernarde.doc

absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. McCormick*, 166 Wn.2d 689, 213 P.3d 32 (2009). A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on unreasonable or untenable grounds. *State v. Partee*, 141 Wn. App. 355, 361, 170 P.3d 60 (2007).

In the present case, defendant had completed treatment but was ordered back to sex offender treatment by the court at the advice of his CCO after he had regressed back to his previous ways. RP(7/27/12) 8; RP(9/28/12) 10-11. Defendant's treatment provider noted that defendant had become "complacent with following his probation rules." CP 302. She further noted that defendant "believes he places himself above the rules" and is "no longer amenable to treatment in the community." CP 303. As a result, he was terminated from sex offender treatment. CP 303. The court subsequently revoked defendant's SSOSA, finding his termination a violation. CP 282; 342-44; RP(3/25/13) 184.

Defendant argues that the trial court abused its discretion in revoking his SSOSA and finding that he was terminated from treatment because defendant had "successfully completed" sex offender treatment in the past. Brief of appellant at 16-17. Defendant's claim fails, because his behavior and attitude after completing treatment was not consistent with that of a successful graduate. In a report issued November of 2012—nearly three years after defendant "successfully completed" sex offender treatment—his treatment provider wrote "[defendant has] been deceptive and secretive to get his needs met and placing his needs before those of

- 13 - Bernarde.doc

others, a strict violation of an offender's code to honor the community's 'need to know' and an obligation to serve as a sex offender to be transparent in his relationships with others." CP 247-49.

Moreover, defendant stipulated to violations which resulted in the court's ruling terminating the SSOSA. CP 343; RP(3/25/13) 169. In the order revoking sentence—which defendant signed—stated that:

The court found three violations occurred based upon the defendant's stipulation to and waiver of his right to confront applicable witnesses as to the following:

- 1) The defendant failed to report his change of address to DOC within 24 hours of his move on January 31, 2013;
- 2) The defendant failed to obey all laws by contacting Viola Bernarde in violation of Tacoma Municipal Court's no contact order D45192 on February 3, 2013; and
- 3) The defendant was terminated from court ordered sex offender treatment with Jeanglee Tracer on February 17, 2013.

CP 343 (emphasis added).

Because defendant's termination from sex offender treatment was a violation of his suspended sentence, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in revoking defendant's SSOSA based in part on this violation.

2. AN ORDER SHOULD BE ENTERED TO AMEND THE TERMS OF CONFINEMENT TO COMPLY WITH RCW 9.94A.701(9).

On July 23, 2009, the Washington Supreme Court held that, because the exact amount of time that a defendant will spend in

- 14 - Bernarde.doc

confinement can almost never be determined at sentencing, a defendant's judgment and sentence must "explicitly state that the combination of confinement and community custody shall not exceed the statutory maximum." *In re Personal Restraint of Brooks*, 166 Wn.2d 664, 675, 211 P.3d 1023 (2009). However, the court noted in dicta that its ruling in *Brooks* would likely be superseded by amendments of the 2009 regular session of the State Legislature. *Id.* at 672 n. 4.

Effective July 26, 2009, the Washington State legislature passed what is now codified as RCW 9.94A.701(9). It provides that the community custody term specified by RCW 9.94A.701⁴ "shall be reduced by the court whenever an offender's standard range term of confinement in combination with the term of community custody exceeds the statutory maximum for the crime." Laws of 2009, ch. 375, § 5; former RCW 9.94A.701(8).

In *State v. Franklin*, 172 Wn.2d 831, 839, 263 P.3d 585 (2011), the Washington Supreme Court addressed the new sentencing requirements and concluded that RCW 9.94A.701(9) applies retroactively and that the Department of Corrections (DOC), not the trial court, is responsible for bringing pre-amendment sentences into compliance with the new statute. *Id.* at 839–840.

³ This became known as a "Brooks Notation."

⁴ RCW 9.94A.701 is titled, "Community Custody Offenders sentenced to the custody of the department."

In *State v. Boyd*, the Washington Supreme Court held that the trial court, not the DOC, is responsible for bringing post-amendment sentences into compliance with RCW 9.94A.701(9). 174 Wn.2d 470, 471, 275 P.3d 321 (2012). The court also reiterated its position in *Franklin*, that "following the enactment of [RCW 9.94A.701], the "*Brooks* notation' procedure no longer complies with statutory requirements." *Boyd*, 174 Wn.2d at 471.

Here, the statutory maximum term for a class B felony is 120 months. CP 343; RCW 9A.44.086. As the court sentenced defendant to 116 months in custody, the maximum term of community custody allowed is four months.

In the order revoking the SSOSA, the Court included the following "Brooks notation":

The Defendant is additionally sentenced to a term of community custody for that period of time that equals the difference between 120 months and the period of time spent in total confinement less credit time served and good time; see Appendix F attached hereto and incorporated by reference.

CP 343. However, such notation is no longer sufficient to establish that a sentence complies with statutory requirements. *Boyd*, 174 Wn.2d at 471.

Because defendant was convicted of a Class B felony and was sentenced to a combination of confinement and community custody that exceeds the statutory maximum of ten years after July 26, 2009, the court must enter an order to correct the terms of confinement to comply with

- 16 - Bernarde.doc

RCW 9.94A.701(9) per *Boyd*.

This case should be remanded for the trial court to correct defendant's community custody.

3. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS
DISCRETION IN IMPOSING COMMUNITY CUSTODY
CONDITIONS REQUIRING DEFENDANT UNDERGO
PLETHYSMOGRAPH TESTING AND PROHIBITING
DEFENDANT FROM POSSESSING PORNOGRAPHY
WHEN THEY WERE PROPER CRIME RELATED
PROHIBITIONS.

The law provides broad discretion to the trial court to impose conditions on community custody:

When a court sentences a person to a term of community custody, the court shall impose conditions of community custody as provided in this section...

- (3) Discretionary conditions. As part of any given term of community custody, the court may order an offender to:
- (a) Remain within, or outside of, a specified geographical boundary;
- (b) Refrain from direct or indirect contact with the victim of the crime or a specified class of individuals;
- (c) Participate in crime-related treatment or counseling services;
- (d) Participate in rehabilitative programs or otherwise perform affirmative conduct reasonably related to the circumstances of the offense, the offender's risk of reoffending, or the safety of the community;

- 17 - Bernarde.doc

- (e) Refrain from consuming alcohol; or
- (f) Comply with any crime-related prohibitions.

RCW 9.94A.703.

A sentencing court may only impose statutorily authorized sentences. *State v. Paulson*, 131 Wn. App. 579, 588, 128 P.3d 133 (2006). When the trial court imposes an unauthorized condition on community custody, the reviewing court remedies the error by striking the unauthorized condition. *See State v. O'Cain*, 144 Wn. App. 772, 775, 184 P.3d 1262 (2008).

In imposing a sentence, a sentencing court may: ...rely on no more information than is admitted by the plea agreement, or admitted, acknowledged, or proven in a trial or a the time of sentencing, or proven pursuant to RCW 9.94A.573. Acknowledgement includes not objecting to information stated in the pre-sentence reports and not objecting to criminal history at the time of sentencing.

9.94A.530(2).

When the sentencing court has statutory authority to impose a sentencing condition, the appellate court reviews sentencing conditions for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 37, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993). A sentencing court abuses its discretion when the sentence is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable reasons, such that no reasonable person would adopt the view of the court. *Id.* Although a crime related prohibition must be directly related to the crime, it does need to be casually related to the crime. *State v. Autrey*, 136 Wn. App. 460, 467, 150

P.3d 580 (2006). A "crime-related prohibition" is defined as "an order of a court prohibiting conduct that directly relates to the circumstances of the crime for which the offender has been convicted, and shall not be construed to mean orders directing an offender affirmatively to participate in rehabilitative programs or to otherwise perform affirmative conduct." RCW 9.94A.030.

a. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in mandating defendant undergo plethysmograph testing because it is a crime related treatment.

The trial court imposed condition 19 upon defendant, which stated that he must:

Submit to polygraph and plethysmograph testing upon direction of your community corrections officer or therapist at your expense.

CP 58.

Plethysmograph testing is a valid condition when ordered incident to crime-related treatment. *State v. Castro*, 141 Wn. App 485, 494, 170 P.3d 78 (2007). In *State v. Riles*, the court determined that it is not permissible for a court to order plehtysmograph testing without also imposing crime-related treatment which would reasonably rely upon plethysmograph testing as a physiological assessment measure. 135 Wn.2d 326, 345, 957 P.2d 655 (1998) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Valencia*, 169 Wn.2d 782, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010). The court further noted

that plethysmograph testing yields data that may be useful regarding the sexual arousal patterns of sex offenders and be useful in assessing baseline arousal patterns for therapeutic progress. *Id.* at 344.

Here, defendant was ordered to participate in sexual deviancy treatment in addition to submitting to plethysmograph testing. CP 58. This treatment is considered crime related because defendant's sexual offence is repeated acts of child molestation. CP 42. Defendant's repeated sexual offences indicate that he has a sexual deviance problem that requires treatment. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that sexual deviancy treatment coupled with plethysmograph testing would be useful in assessing defendant's arousal patterns and thereby decrease defendant's risk of re-offending.

b. The trial court did not err in prohibiting defendant from possessing pornographic materials as it is a proper crime related prohibition.

The trial court imposed condition 15, which stated:

Do not possess or peruse pornographic materials. Your community corrections officer will define pornographic material.

CP 58.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by prohibiting the defendant from possessing sexually explicit materials. Condition 15 explicitly states that the sexual deviancy treatment provider will define

what pornographic materials are. CP 58. This condition might be problematic had the court ordered it independently of a treatment program. However, because the court properly mandated that the defendant undergo sexual deviancy treatment and left the definition of "pornographic" to the treatment provider, this condition is properly interpreted as part of that treatment.

4. THE TRIAL COURT EXCEEDED ITS STATUTORY
AUTHORITY IN PART WHEN IT IMPOSED
CONDITION 13 LIMITING DEFENDANT'S ACCESS
OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES TO THOSE ONLY
ISSUED BY LICENSED PHYSICIANS.

This Court reviews de novo whether the trial court had statutory authority to impose certain conditions of community custody. *State v. Acevedo*, 159 Wn. App. 221, 231, 248 P.3d 526 (2010). A trial court may only impose statutorily authorized sentences. *State v. Paulson*, 131 Wn. App. 579, 588, 128 P.3d 133 (2006). "If the trial court exceeds its sentencing authority, its actions are void." *Id.* When the trial court imposes an unauthorized condition on community custody, this Court remedies the error by remanding the issue with instructions to strike the unauthorized condition. *See State v. Jones*, 118 Wn. App. 199, 212, 76 P.3d 258 (2003).

Here, the court imposed condition 13, which stated that:

You shall not possess or consume any mind or mood altering substances, to include alcohol, or any controlled substances without a valid prescription from a licensed physician.

CP 58.

There is no statutory authority to limit medications only to those prescribed by licensed physicians. As such, the court improperly limited defendant's access of controlled substances only to licensed physicians. Therefore, this Court should remand to strike the words "from a licensed physician" replace with "lawfully issued."

D. CONCLUSION.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in revoking defendant's SSOSA, because defendant violated six separate conditions of his suspended sentence. The trial court also did not abuse its discretion in imposing community custody conditions requiring defendant undergo plethysmograph testing and prohibiting him from possessing pornography, as those were proper crime related conditions. The trial court exceeded its statutory authority in part when it limited defendant's access of controlled substances to those only issued by licensed physicians. Furthermore, the State concedes that an order should be entered to correct defendant's judgment and sentence to comply with the statutory maximum.

- 22 - Bernarde.doc

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests this Court to affirm defendant's conviction and uphold the conditions on defendant's community custody where the State has identified the sentencing court properly exercised its statutory authority above.